RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCON 20-2015 DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2012-CF-000093 Appeal No. 2014AP002701 CR

ROBERT J. STIETZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED ON MAY 28, 2014 BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR LAFAYETTE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JUDGE JAMES R. BEER PRESIDING

> BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT ROBERT J. STIETZ

> > Charles W. Giesen Attorney for Robert J. Stietz State Bar No.1014364 GIESEN LAW OFFICES, S.C. 14 S. Broom Street P.O. Box 909 Madison, WI 53701-0909 (608) 255-8200

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Was Robert Stietz entitled to a jury instruction on self-defense where he testified he was in fear for his life when two armed strangers who had trespassed on his land accosted him and forcibly took his rifle from him and drew and pointed handguns at him?

The trial court answered no.

2. Was Robert Stietz entitled to a jury instruction regarding the wardens' trespassing on his farm?

The trial court answered no.

3. Was Stietz denied his right to a public trial when the trial court held the jury instructions conference behind closed doors in a downstairs conference room?

The trial court answered no.

4. Were Stietz' Second Amendment rights violated when he was arrested on his farm and prosecuted for refusing to be forcibly disarmed by two armed trespassers?

The trial court answered no.

5. Are Department of Natural Resources wardens "law enforcement officers" within the meaning of Sec. 941.20(1m), Stats.?

The trial court answered yes.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is not necessary, as the determination of this appeal turns on well-settled principles of law. The appellant believes that oral argument may be helpful to understand some of the nuances of this case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The first two issues in this case, namely the trial court's refusal to give the defendant-appellant's requested jury instructions on self-defense and on trespassing, denied Stietz his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense, which is a question of constitutional fact which this Court reviews *de novo*. State v. Dodson, 219 Wis. 2d 65, 69-70, 580 N.W.2d 181 (1998); In Interest of Michael R.B., 175 Wis. 2d 713, 720, 499 N.W.2d 641 (1993), citing State v. Pulizzano, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 648, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990).

Similarly, the third issue, whether Stietz was denied his right to a public trial, and the fourth issue, whether his Second Amendment rights were violated, are questions of constitutional fact which this Court should also review *de novo*. <u>Id</u>.

The final issue, whether conservation wardens are law enforcement officers under the applicable statute, is a question of

statutory construction which this Court reviews *de novo*. Phelps v. Physicians Insurance Co. of Wisconsin, Inc., 2009 WI 74, ¶ 36, 319 Wis. 2d 1, 768 N.W.2d 615.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the judgment of conviction and sentence entered May 28, 2014, in the Circuit Court for LaFayette County, the Honorable James R. Beer, Judge presiding. (R.78a; R.92; App. 1-3)

Following a confrontation with two game wardens, Robert Stietz was charged with the following six criminal offenses:

Description of Charge

Count No.

	<u></u>
1	First-degree recklessly endangering safety
2	Resisting or obstructing an officer
3	Resisting or obstructing an officer
4	Endanger safety/use of a dangerous weapon
5	Intentionally point firearm at a law enforcement officer
6	Intentionally point a firearm at a law enforcement officer
(R.7a) The case was tried to a jury, which acquitted Stietz on four of	
the counts (Counts 1, 2, 4 and 5) (R.59; R.60; R.62; R.63) and	
convicted him on Counts 3 and 6 (R.61; R.64), resisting or obstructing	
an officer, and intentionally pointing a firearm at a law enforcement	

Prior to trial, Stietz filed a motion to dismiss the charges based

officer. (R.78a; R.92; App. 1-3)

on his rights under the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 8(1) of the Wisconsin Constitution. (R.14; R.15; App. 4-14) Following an evidentiary hearing and briefing, the trial court denied that motion. (R.103; R.20; R.21; R.22; R.27; R.28; R.29; R.30; R.34; App. 15) The case proceeded to a jury trial, at which Robert Stietz testified that he was walking his fenced-in property during gun deer season looking for trespassers when he encountered two strangers clad in blaze orange on his property. (R.113:92; App. 38) The encounter occurred when it was "fairly dark" (R.112:29), and Stietz testified that he did not know or recognize the two strangers. (R.113:92; App. 38) The strangers approached him and asked for his rifle. When Stietz refused to give it to them, they forcibly wrestled it away from him. One of the two strangers then drew a pistol on Stietz and Stietz responded by drawing his pistol on that person. (R.102:35-36; R.113:98-99; App. 44-45) Stietz maintained that he was fearful for his life and acting in self-defense to protect himself. (R113:99; App.45) Based on that testimony and Stietz' assertion of his right to self-defense, his counsel requested that the jury be given an instruction on self-defense, either WIS JI-CRIMINAL 800, 810 or an adaptation of those. (R.42; R.107:49-58; App. 22-27) The trial court refused the requested self-defense instruction, precluding Stietz' trial counsel from arguing to the jury that he was acting in self-defense and precluding the jury from even considering that defense. (R.107:49-58)

The morning following the close of evidence, the trial court conducted the jury instruction conference in a downstairs conference room behind a closed door with no members of the public present. Stietz asserted that the closed jury instruction conference was a denial of his right to a public trial. (R.107:64; R.113:179) The trial court set forth inconsistent positions, first asserting that those proceedings were not closed, but then acknowledging the door was closed because of noise in the hallway and that the jury instructions conference "would have been unruly with about 40-60 people sitting in the courtroom at the time" and the trial court "would have been having deputies escort people out, arresting them for contempt, etc. for not remaining silent" and "I don't want to create a brouhaha upstairs in the courtroom or a commotion in the courtroom." (R.107:64)

Following the verdict, Stietz filed a Motion for Acquittal or a New Trial (R.67; App. 28-30). The trial court denied that motion and imposed a bifurcated sentence which included one year of initial confinement. (R.76; R.78a; R.92; App. 1-3, 31) Stietz will have

completed serving that portion of his sentence and will be released from custody on May 19, 2015.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Robert Stietz was a 64 year old lifelong beef farmer with no prior criminal history. (R.81:2; R.113:101-102; App. 47-48) Together with his wife of 42 years, he owned and farmed a 40 acre parcel outside Gratiot and another 25 acre parcel approximately 12 miles away outside Lamont. (R.111:65-66) The latter parcel was completely enclosed by fence and used by Stietz and his wife for pasturing cattle and hunting. That parcel is north of Highway 81 and connected to that highway by an easement from the highway to the parcel's gate. (R.113:69-70, 73)

Trespassers on the uninhabited parcel were a common problem. (R.113:110-111, 138-139; App. 56-57, 84-85) On the last day of gun deer season, Sunday, November 25, 2012, Bob Stietz was walking his property to check for trespassers, and to check the fence lines since he was planning on pasturing a bull in that field after the close of hunting season. (R.113:136, 142-143; App. 82, 88-89) He was carrying a Weatherby rifle, with the safety on (R.111:193; R.113:92; App. 38), and was also carrying a .357 revolver (R.113:99, 107; App. 45, 53). The revolver was partially loaded but did not have a bullet in the

cylinder in front of the barrel for safety reasons. (R.113:113; App. 59) He was wearing a camouflage coat and hat. He was not wearing hunters blaze orange, although he did have a blaze orange vest with his back tag stuffed into one of his coat pockets. (R.113:108-109; App. 54-55)

Sunset that day was at 4:25 p.m. (R.112:9) The official end of hunting season was 20 minutes after sunset or 4:45 p.m. (R.112:10) As Stietz was heading back toward where he had parked his car along a fence line, two Department of Natural Resources conservation wardens, Frost and Webster, noticed a car sitting along a fence line approximately a quarter mile up into the field. (R.111:165) The wardens drove onto the property and stopped at the vehicle. The wardens did not know if the car had been abandoned or if it belonged to someone who might be hunting in the area. (R.111:166-167) One of the wardens peered into the car and saw an empty rifle case and some buck lure. (R.111:166-167) At the same time, 4:58 p.m. according to the records, the other warden checked the registration of the vehicle and learned that the Chevy sedan was registered to Bob and Sue Stietz. (R.111:169)

Curious, the wardens then decided to walk north onto the Stietz

farm. They walked through a cattle gate at approximately 5:03 p.m. and continued walking 100 yards or more north onto Stietz' land. (R.111:173-174; R.112:13) Meanwhile, Bob Stietz had spied blaze orange in the woods on his land and proceeded to walk toward the cattle gates at the southwest corner of the parcel. (R.113:92; App. 38) The wardens heard a stick snap and turned to see Stietz walking slowly to the west, pausing every few steps. (R.112:175) It was at least 45 minutes after sunset and was dark as the two wardens walked in the direction Stietz was heading to intercept him. In Warden Webster's words, when they saw Stietz, it was "very nearly completely dark." Warden Frost testified that they were (R.111:177; R.112-145) separated from Stietz by some brush about 20 yards away. (R.111:177) Warden Frost testified that he shined his flashlight on Stietz and announced from that distance that he was a conservation warden. (R.111:177) Stietz testified at the trial that there had been problems with trespassers and he was walking his property checking for trespassers. (R:113:93-94, 110) He had not heard the wardens announce themselves (R.113:122; App. 68) and, after the initial glimpse of blaze orange he had seen from 100 yards or so away, he first noticed them again when they shined the flashlight in his eyes from a distance of 20 or 30 yards. (R.113:125, 141; App. 71, 87) He did not know who they were and assumed they were trespassing hunters. (R.113:92, 123; App. 38, 69) That assumption was consistent with the wardens' blaze orange jackets and their initial conversation upon approaching Stietz when Webster asked Stietz if he had seen any deer and he replied he had seen seven doe. (R.111:179) At that point, Stietz and the two wardens were standing within arms reach of each other. (R.111:179) Webster then asked Stietz if the rifle he was carrying was loaded and Stietz answered that it was. (R.111:180) Frost asked to see the rifle and Stietz refused. Frost asked again if he could see the firearm and stepped toward Stietz and reached for Stietz' firearm. (R.111:180) Frost immediately grabbed the rifle and drove his body towards Stietz trying to take the firearm away from Stietz. (R.111:181) The other warden joined the struggle and grabbed Stietz' rifle, with the barrel swinging around while they wrestled it away from him. (R.113:97; App. 43) Frost then wrestled the firearm away and ended up with it in his hands, falling away to the ground. (R.111:182) Frost then heard Webster yell something and saw him draw his firearm on Stietz. (R.102:35-36; R.111:183) In close succession after Webster drew his handgun, Stietz and Frost also drew their handguns at "about

the same time." (R.111:184) At that point, Warden Webster had his handgun pointed at Stietz' upper body with his arms extended at chin height and a two handed grip and a ready stance, as did Frost. (R.111:187) Stietz had his revolver pointed at Webster's upper torso, holding it in his right hand with his right elbow bent. (R.113:17-18, 99; App. 45) Robert Stietz testified that at that point he still did not know who these two people who had accosted him were. (R.113:114; App. 60)

A tense but polite standoff followed. (R.111:64-66; R.112:110; R.113:116; App. 62) The wardens told Stietz to drop his gun. Stietz answered by saying that they had drawn on him and he would drop his gun only after they dropped theirs. (R.113:116; App. 62) All agreed that Steitz stated that he was exercising his right to defend himself and his property. (R.112:111, 138; R.113:99; App. 45) Stietz and the wardens also agreed that no one raised their voice or made any threats or used any profanity during this standoff. (R.111:64-65; R.112:110; R.113:116; App. 62) After a minute or two of the mutual entreaties for the others to put their weapons down, Webster used the microphone on his collar to call LaFayette County Dispatch for assistance. (R.111:189; R.112:109; R.113:114; App. 60) All agreed that Stietz made no effort

to prevent that. (R.112:67; R.113:114; App. 60) Relieved that witnesses and assistance in the form of sheriff's deputies would soon arrive, Stietz testified at trial that that was the first point in time when he thought the men who were pointing their guns at him were officers of some sort. (R.113:114; App. 60)

Deputy Sheriff Broge arrived shortly at the scene in his squad car and shined his squad car's headlights on Stietz, Frost and Webster. (R.111:189; R.112:167) Deputy Broge initially walked to the area where the wardens were but then returned to his squad car for cover, as did the two DNR wardens. (R.112:168) Stietz did nothing to obstruct their movement to safe cover and, because the lights from the squad were shining on him, he was blinded and could no longer even see the wardens. (R.111:190) Shortly after the wardens retreated to the vehicle, Stietz lowered his gun hand, pointing it at the ground, and emptied the cartridges onto the ground. (R.111:193; R.112:169) Other deputies arrived and spoke with Bob Stietz and assured him he would not be gang tackled. (R.112:160-161) Stietz then placed his firearm on the ground and walked out to the squad, where he was placed in handcuffs by the deputies. (R.111:193) The standoff ended peaceably, with no shots having been fired.

Further facts will be set forth as necessary below.

ARGUMENT

I. ROBERT STIETZ WAS ENTITLED TO A SELF-DEFENSE JURY INSTRUCTION WHEN HE TESTIFIED HE WAS IN FEAR FOR HIS LIFE BECAUSE OF THE ACTIONS OF TWO ARMED STRANGERS WHO HAD TRESPASSED ON HIS LAND

Summary of Argument

Stietz testified he was in fear for his life when two armed strangers who had trespassed on his land accosted him and forcibly took his rifle from him and drew and pointed handguns at him. That evidence was more than sufficient to require the trial court to instruct the jury regarding self-defense.

Merits

A person is entitled to assert the privilege of self-defense when he reasonably believes that another person is unlawfully interfering with his person and in response he uses such force as he reasonably believes necessary to prevent or terminate that interference. Section 939.48(1), Stats.; WIS JI CRIMINAL 800; State v. Head, 2002 WI 99, ¶¶ 64-66, 255 Wis. 2d 194, 648 N.W.2d 413.

The United States Supreme Court has noted that:

"The right to self-defense is the first law of nature."

<u>District of Columbia v. Heller</u>, 554 U.S. 570, 128 S.Ct. 2783, 171 L.Ed.2d 637, 644 (2008). Self-defense is universally recognized as an "inherent right." <u>Id.</u> The Supreme Court has since reaffirmed the unmistakable importance of the right of self-defense:

"Self-defense is a basic right, recognized by many legal systems from ancient times to the present . . "

McDonald v. City of Chicago, 561 U.S. 742, 744, 130 S.Ct. 3020, 177 L.Ed.2d 894 (2010).

In spite of the abundance of evidence entitling Stietz to a jury instruction on self-defense, the trial court refused to allow Stietz to present that defense. (R.107:49-58)

A. There is ample evidence in the record to require the defendant-appellant's requested self-defense instruction.

Wisconsin law establishes a minimal threshold at which an accused is entitled to a theory of self-defense jury instruction. The law requires only that the defendant produce "some" evidence in support of his privilege of self-defense. State v. Peters, 2002 WI App 243, ¶¶ 27-28 and n.4, 258 Wis. 2d 148, 653 N.W.2d 300. When determining whether the defendant has presented "some" evidence in support of self-defense, the trial court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant. State v. Head, supra at 113. Wisconsin

cases make clear that evidence supporting a defense theory instruction may be "weak, insufficient, inconsistent or of doubtful credibility." The accused is entitled to a jury instruction on his theory of defense even if the supporting evidence is "slight." State v. Schuman, 226 Wis. 2d 398, 404 and n.3, 595 N.W.2d 86 (Ct. App. 1999).

There was abundant evidence at trial to support self-defense. Stietz himself testified that he had had ongoing problems with trespassers on his fenced in farmland, especially during deer hunting season. (R.113:92-104, 110-111, 136, 142-143; App. 38-50, 56-57, 82, 88-89) He was walking his land to check for trespassers, as well as to check the fence line since he would be pasturing cattle there after deer season. (R.113:136, 142-144; App. 82, 88-90) While walking his land, Stietz observed two strangers dressed in blaze orange trespassing on his land. (R.113:92; App. 38) The three met up by the cattle gate between Stietz' easement to the property and his farm property itself. As they approached each other, the strangers shined a flashlight into Stietz' eyes so he could not clearly see them. (R.111:177; R.113:125, 141; App. 71, 87) One of the two asked Stietz if he had seen any deer, to which he replied "seven." (R.111:179) Stietz testified that the strangers demanded his rifle and he refused to give it to them. (R.111:180;

R.113:95; App. 41) The two strangers then grabbed the rifle and forcibly wrestled it away from Stietz, with one of the men falling to the ground and the other pulling a handgun and pointing it at Stietz. (R.111:181-183; R.113:97; App. 43) Stietz testified that at that point he was fearful for his life and safety and drew his own pistol in response. (R.113:99; App. 45) A standoff ensued, with Stietz asking the two strangers to put down their handguns as they had drawn first and he would then put his down. (R.111:64-66; R.112:110; R.113:116; App. 62) Stietz testified at trial, and both of the conservation wardens present confirmed, that Stietz said he was doing what he felt necessary to protect himself. (R.112:111, 138; R.113:99; App. 45) Stietz testified and both wardens acknowledged in their testimony that Stietz never made verbal threats to shoot them, never tried to prevent them from calling for help, and never tried to prevent or discourage their retreat. (R.111:64-65; R.112:110; R.113:116; App. 62) That Stietz was acting in self-defense and that he reasonably believed his safety was in danger was the very issue that the jury should have been permitted to decide. That was the real controversy in question. Insofar as it hinged on Stietz' credibility, that too was a question that should have been resolved by the jury. State v. Coleman, 206 Wis. 2d 198, 213-214, 556

N.W.2d 701 (1996).

The fact that the jury acquitted Stietz on four of the six charged counts, where his testimony was at times in conflict with that of the wardens, strongly suggests that the jury did believe and did credit much or all of Stietz' testimony. Evidence presented at trial, including Stietz' testimony that he was in fear for his life, goes far beyond the "slight" or "some evidence" necessary to establish a defendant's right to an instruction on self-defense.

B. The denial of Stietz' request for a self-defense instruction deprived him of his right to present a defense.

Every person charged with a criminal offense has a fundamental constitutional right to present a defense under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as Article 1, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly observed that few rights are more fundamental than that of an accused to present a defense. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). The Supreme Court of Wisconsin has also frequently recognized the importance of the defendant's constitutional rights to present a defense, and that those rights trump even legislative enactments. State v. Dodson, 219 Wis. 2d 65, ¶¶ 35-36, 580 N.W.2d 181 (1998).

Stietz' defense, including his testimony and his counsel's trial preparation, were predicated in large part on the theory of self-defense. Stietz' counsel had requested WIS JI CRIMINAL 800, as well as two alternative self-defense formulations. (R.107:49-58) The trial court rejected all of those requests. (R.107:49-58) Consequently, in his closing argument to the jury, defense counsel was precluded from even discussing or arguing that Bob Stietz' conduct was privileged under the law of self-defense. That denial of Stietz' right to present a defense requires a reversal of his convictions.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PERMIT EVIDENCE OF AND REFUSING TO GIVE A JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING THE TRESPASSING BY THE CONSERVATION WARDENS

Summary of Argument

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