RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-23-2016**

IN SUPREME COURT COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2014AP2701-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROBERT JOSEPH STIETZ,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN LAFAYETTE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES R. BEER, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

there is some mistake of fact question left for the jury. He simply can no longer claim self-defense under *his* testimony.

The trial court did not erroneously exercise its discretion. Stietz's testimony did not support a self-defense instruction.

D. The court granted Stietz's fundamental, constitutional right to present a defense.

The State agrees with Stietz that he has a constitutional right to present a defense. (Stietz's Br. 15.) However, he was not entitled to his defense of *choice*—self-defense—because, as argued above, he failed to present sufficient evidence to warrant it.

Stietz's defense with regards to counts 3 and 6 (his two convictions) was the following: that the State did not prove the elements because the State failed to prove (1) the wardens were acting with lawful authority, and (2) Stietz knew that they were officers acting in their official capacity with lawful authority. (107:131, 137-39.) Stietz argued that by "grabbing someone's rifle," the wardens were not acting in their "official capacity or duties that their employment required them to perform." (107:90.) He continued, "[f]orcibly taking a rifle from a man who is walking his fence line looking for trespassers and not hunting was not something done in the official capacity of these wardens." (107:94; see also 107:95.)

Stietz criticizes the court of appeals for "ignoring" State v. Mendoza, 80 Wis. 2d 122, 258 N.W.2d 260 (1977). Stietz argues that Mendoza prohibits what the court of appeals did in this case: it "improperly usurped the jury's ability to make [the] determination" of whether Stietz was acting in self-defense. (Stietz's Br. 17-18.)

Mendoza concerned the conflicting "version of events" between the parties; specifically, the "[d]efendant's version of the struggle," and the "state's factual theories of the case," which were "substantially different from the defendant's story." 80 Wis. 2d at 133-34. This Court determined that neither a trial court nor a reviewing court may weigh the evidence, but instead may only ask whether a reasonable construction of the evidence, viewed favorably to the defendant, supports the alleged defense. Mendoza, 80 Wis. 2d at 152.

But in *this* case, the court of appeals did not weigh the credibility of the parties to determine that Stietz was not entitled to the self-defense instruction. Rather, it determined that Stietz's testimony *alone* did not warrant a self-defense instruction: "Stietz's assertion [that he did not know Frost and Webster were wardens] is belied by his own testimony." (R-App. 106.)

The "reasonable construction of the evidence," *viewed favorably* to Stietz, simply did not support a self-defense instruction. Essentially, the court of appeals determined that Stietz's testimony was, as a matter of law, insufficient to warrant a self-defense instruction. (*See* R-App. 106.)⁷ Its decision is not that the *court* did not believe Stietz; rather, that nobody—no jury—would believe Stietz.

⁷ This is a reasonable conclusion since Stietz *continued* to point his firearm and resist the wardens even after Broge arrived.

E. Stietz had no right to physically resist the law enforcement officers.

Stietz next argues that the court of appeals erroneously relied upon this Court's decision in *State v. Hobson*, 218 Wis. 2d 350, 577 N.W. 2d 825 (1998) when it rejected his argument that a self-defense instruction was necessary because he believed that the wardens' conduct was unlawful. (Stietz's Br. 20.) The State agrees with Stietz that the issue is not whether he had a right to resist an arrest, but whether he had a right to act in self defense. ⁸ But to the extent that Stietz asserts that a self-defense instruction was proper because he believed that the wardens' conduct was unlawful, *Hobson* provides guidance that such a belief is of no consequence and the officers' conduct was clearly legal.

In *Hobson*, this Court considered whether public policy would be best served by abrogating the common law privilege to forcibly resist an unlawful arrest. 218 Wis. 2d at 358. This Court concluded that it would, and it quoted with approval the reasoning in *Miller v. State*, 462 P.2d 421 (Alaska 1969):

"It is not too much to ask that one believing himself unlawfully arrested should submit to the officer and thereafter seek his legal remedies in court. Such a rule helps to relieve the threat of physical harm to officers who in good faith but mistakenly perform an arrest, as well as to minimize harm to innocent bystanders. . . . We hold that a private citizen may not use force to resist peaceful arrest by one he knows or has good reason to believe is an authorized

⁸ Stietz argues that the abrogation of the right to self-defense doesn't affect this case since the officers did not attempt an arrest.

peace officer performing his duties, regardless of whether the arrest is illegal in the circumstances of the occasion."

Id. at 380. Therefore, under *Hobson*, whether or not Stietz believed the wardens' actions were unlawful is irrelevant.

Stietz's claim that he did not know that Frost and Webster were wardens performing their duties is refuted by the trial evidence. Stietz himself testified that the wardens identified themselves. (113:93, 122.) Stietz was also close enough to wrestle with Frost over his rifle. The wardens were in full uniform, with badges, and they identified themselves. Stietz knew they were acting in their official capacity, and yet he resisted. And he continued to resist and point a loaded firearm at the wardens even after additional law enforcement arrived. By the end of the trial, any claim of self defense was so discredited "that no reasonable jury could conclude that the [S]tate had not disproved it." *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 115. Stietz was not entitled to a self-defense instruction.

II. Stietz did not have a Second Amendment right under the United States or Wisconsin Constitution to refuse the law enforcement officers' requests to disarm his loaded firearm.

Stietz argues that his Second Amendment rights were violated when his rifle was forcibly disarmed by the law enforcement officers. He claims that they had no legal justification for disarming him, and that because Stietz "cannot be prosecuted" for the exercise of his Second

_

⁹ While it is undisputed by the parties that the wardens were not arresting Stietz, this makes Stietz's assault on them that much more egregious, especially in light of the restrained actions of the wardens.

Amendment rights, the criminal charges must be vacated. (Stietz's Br. 27-28.)

A. This Court should not address Stietz's undeveloped constitutional claim.

Stietz's Second Amendment argument is undeveloped. Stietz cites cases that generally confirm that there is a constitutional right to bear arms. (Stietz Br. 28-29.) But he does not cite anything to support his claims that (1) disarming him under these circumstances violates his Second Amendment rights, or (2) that *if* the wardens' actions violated his Second Amendment rights, that it "precludes his prosecution." (Stietz's Br. 28.) This Court will neither develop an appellant's argument for him, *see State v. Gulrud*, 140 Wis. 2d 721, 730, 412 N.W.2d 139 (Ct. App. 1987), nor address issues on appeal that are inadequately briefed. *See State v. Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 58, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994). Those principles apply with particular force when the claim is constitutional:

Constitutional claims are very complicated from an analytic perspective, both to brief and to decide. A one or two paragraph statement that raises the specter of such claims is insufficient to constitute a valid appeal of these constitutional issues to this court. For us to address undeveloped constitutional claims, we would have to analyze them, develop them, and then decide them. We cannot serve as both advocate and court.

Cemetery Servs. v. Dep't of Regulation & Licensing, 221 Wis. 2d 817, 831, 586 N.W.2d 191 (Ct. App. 1998). Because this is an underdeveloped claim, the State requests that this Court neither consider nor develop it for Stietz.

B. Stietz did not have a Second Amendment right to refuse law enforcement officers' request to disarm.

If this Court chooses to consider Stietz's second amendment claim on the merits, his claim fails. In determining that the Second Amendment guarantees an individual, rather than a collective, right to bear arms, in *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570, 595 (2008), the Supreme Court noted that the exercise of this right is not unlimited. And in this case, the court of appeals correctly determined that the wardens "were entitled to disarm [Stietz] without violating the Second Amendment." (R-App. 110.)

Wisconsin Stat. § 23.58 (2013-14) provides the wardens' authority to stop Stietz:

After having identified himself or herself as an enforcing officer, an enforcing officer may stop a person in a public place for a reasonable period of time when the officer reasonably suspects that such person is committing, is about to commit or has committed a violation of those statutes enumerated in s. 23.50(1) . . . Such a stop may be made only where the enforcing officer has proper authority to make an arrest for such a violation. The officer may demand the name and address of the person and an explanation of the person's conduct. Such detention and temporary questioning shall be conducted in the vicinity where the person was stopped.

The wardens were authorized to investigate whether Stietz was violating the laws related to hunting. And, under

¹⁰ The Wisconsin Constitution also gives citizens the right to "keep and bear arms for security, defense, hunting, recreation or any other lawful purpose." Wis. Const. Art. 1 § 25.

Wis. Stat. § 23.59, the wardens also had the authority to secure Stietz's loaded rifle:

When an enforcing officer has stopped a person for temporary questioning pursuant to s. 23.58 and reasonably suspects that he or she or another is in danger of physical injury, the officer may search such person for weapons If the officer finds such a weapon or instrument, or any other property possession of which he or she reasonably believes may constitute the commission of a violation of those statutes enumerated in s. 23.50(1) or which may constitute a threat to his or her safety, the officer may take it and keep it until the completion of the questioning, at which time he or she shall either return it, if lawfully possessed, or arrest the person so questioned for possession of the weapon, instrument, article or substance, if he or she has the authority to do so, or detain the person until a proper arrest can be made by appropriate authorities....

Wis. Stat. § 23.59 (2013-14) (emphasis added). Additionally, in *State v. Iverson*, 2015 WI 101, ¶ 41, 365 Wis. 2d 302, 871 N.W.2d 661, this Court recognized that the authority of state troopers is also provided in Wis. Stat. § 23.58, which authorizes "an enforcing officer" to "stop a person in a public place for a reasonable period of time when the officer reasonably suspects that such person is committing, is about to commit or has committed a violation of those statutes enumerated in s. 23.50(1)." Wisconsin Stat. § 23.50(1) describes the procedure in forfeiture actions. *Iverson* then went on to recognize that officers may conduct a *Terry* stop for a forfeiture violation. 365 Wis. 2d 302, ¶ 42. Therefore, wardens may also arrest individuals for civil forfeitures as well as criminal violations.

But Stietz argues that the wardens "had no reasonable suspicion, much less probable cause, to think that any crime had been committed" when they encountered Stietz. (Stietz's Br. 24.) He makes this argument by noting that the wardens "heard no shots and saw no hunting." (*Id.*) Stietz's argument would essentially require wardens to have personal knowledge of hunting violations prior to conducting an investigation. The inevitable result would be the unnecessary depletion of Wisconsin's wildlife, which the DNR is bound to protect and preserve. And, as Frost testified:

Q: Warden Frost, do shots have to be fired in order to indicate[] somebody is hunting?

A: No

Q: Does somebody need to have a deer carcass to indicate that they have been hunting?

A: No.

Q: What about a drag rope?

A: No.

Q: What about a thermos?

A: No.

Q: Do they need to have blood on their shoes to indicate that they had been hunting?

A: No.

(112:73.) Additionally, certain illegal hunting methods must be viewed on the scene; such as shining deer (Wis. Stat. § 29.245), hunting deer outside of authorized hours (Sec. NR 10.06(3), Wis. Admin. Code), and the use of illegal nets or traps (Wis. Stat. § 29.331).

Numerous factors—Stietz's possession of a hunting firearm after hours, walking as though he was "still hunting," not wearing blaze orange, wearing camouflage, his refusal to turn over his weapon to the wardens, the wardens' observation of an empty rifle case and hunting paraphernalia—gave the wardens reason to believe that

Stietz was violating Wisconsin's hunting laws. Stietz's conduct was not constitutionally protected under the Second Amendment. He has failed to show any Second Amendment right that allowed him to refuse the law enforcement officers' repeated requests to disarm.

III. The trial court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when it denied Stietz's request for an instruction on trespassing.

According to Stietz, the trial court's decision to refuse an instruction on trespass deprived him of his right to present a defense. (Stietz's Br. 15.) But Stietz lacks standing to assert that the wardens were trespassing on his neighbor's property, which is where the confrontation that gave rise to the criminal charges occurred.

A. Stietz has no standing to allege trespassing.

Wis. Wisconsin's trespassing statute, Stat § 943.13(1m)(a), prohibits any person from entering "any enclosed, cultivated or undeveloped land of another without the express or implied consent of the owner or occupant." With no citation to the record, Stietz claims on appeal that "the wardens were trespassing when they encountered Stietz." (Stietz's Br. 21.) But at the trial court, Stietz acknowledged that the encounter did *not* happen on his land, but land that his neighbor (and uncle) owned, Fabian Loeffelholz. (113:123-128,(Stietz's trial testimony, recognizing that the encounter happened after the wardens walked through the gate); 110:17, (Stietz's lawyer informing the trial court "the conversation happens, we're in agreement, outside the gates"); 110:15, ("[t]hey come out through the gates, now they're on the easement, but they're outside the parcel, and that's where the talking and then the

physical confrontation happens"); 110:16, ("[t]hat's where the actual conversation and confrontation occurs. . . . On the easement.").)¹¹

At a sidebar during trial, the court informed Stietz's attorney that Loeffelhoz "owns the title to the property." (113:74.) The court continued, "it's the property owner who can prevent people from going on the property, not the easement holder." (113:75.) Stietz's attorney argued, "Well, I don't have [a] case on this, but I think both people with a record interest in the property have the right to exclude others." (113:75.) The court asked, "Do you have some law?" (Id.) Stietz's attorney replied, "No." (Id.) Further, Stietz offered no evidence at trial that the easement granted Stietz "the right to exclude others." (See 57:Exhibit 12.) Rather, what Stietz offered into evidence was the 1997 warranty deed "between Paul R. Wilson and Eunice E. Wilson," which granted Stietz only a right for "ingress and egress." (Id.) 12

Therefore, at the jury instruction conference, the court again noted that "[a]t one point they were on [Stietz's land], but at the time that all the confrontation took place, they weren't trespassers." (107:45.) "That is why you can't assert the trespass." (*Id.*) Stietz did not disagree with the trial court that the confrontation occurred on his neighbor's land. (*Id.*) Stietz has no standing.

¹¹ See also Exhibit 12 (58), which is Deputy Broge's squad video showing the confrontation outside of the gates.

¹² This Court has stated, "A conveyance of a right-of-way two rods wide is a conveyance of a right-of-way over a strip of land two rods wide, not a conveyance of the strip of land itself. Title to the land does not pass but only the right to pass over it." *Hunter v. McDonald*, 78 Wis. 2d 338, 344, 254 N.W.2d 282 (1977) (citation omitted).

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